SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 19 1994

TROY MERCK, JR.,

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant,

Case No. 83,063

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, TROY MERCK, JR., was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R", and the trial transcript will be referred to as "T". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Troy Merck, Jr. was charged by indictment filed November 14, 1991 with the first degree murder of James Anthony Newton (R17-18). The case went to trial on November 3-6, 1992 and ended in a hung jury (R1382,1386). After a second trial on September 1-7, 1993, before Judge Claire Luten and a jury, appellant was found guilty as charged (R2010; T1225). After the penalty phase, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 9-3 (R2054; T1380). On December 10, 1993 Judge Luten sentenced appellant to death, finding two aggravating factors (HAC and previous conviction of felonies involving the use or threat of violence) and two mitigating factors (abused childhood and alcohol use on the night of the offense) (R2129-35). The trial court found that appellant's age (nineteen) was not a mitigating factor in this case (T2133).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Trial - State's Case

The following is a summary of the evidence introduced at trial:

Katherine Sullivan was a bartender at the City Lights night-club in Pinellas County (T409). On the night of October 11, 1991 -- while off duty -- she went to City Lights with her boyfriend Glen Sharpenstein. Ms. Sullivan was driving; her car was a blue Camaro. They arrived around 10:00 p.m. (T412,452). They were celebrating the birthday of her friend Jim Newton (T412).

The nightclub was active, but not packed. There was a fake orgasm contest, like they had every Thursday (T462). Between 10:00 and midnight, Ms. Sullivan had two or three beers and a couple of shots of a drink called Buttery Nipples (T413,456). She cut herself off from drinking at midnight, and decided she'd had too much to drink to drive home (T414,455-60). She was feeling "a little tipsy"; not drunk but not stone sober either (T457,459-60). Arrangements were made for her friend Gana to drive. A group comprised of Ms. Sullivan, Sharpenstein, Jim Newton, Don Ward, and Gana were going to go get breakfast and then go back to Gana's house and party a little bit (T415-17,457-58).

When the bar closed, around 2:00 p.m., the group gathered in the parking lot to wait for Gana until she finished working (T417, 460-61). Ms. Sullivan was inside her car talking to Glen; she was in the driver's seat and he was in the passenger's seat (T462-63). A large white car was parked next to hers, and a couple of guys

were talking to a couple of girls outside that car (T419,463-64). The taller of the two men (identified by Ms. Sullivan from a photopack as Neil Thomas) leaned on her car. She asked Glen to tell him to move. When he did so, he began apologizing sarcastically. Eventually they got off the car and stepped away. Jim Newton walked up and asked Ms. Sullivan if everything was alright. She told him there was no problem; it was all taken care of (T419,421-23,442-44,463-66,469).

Ms. Sullivan got out of her car and was standing by the driver's side door talking with Jim Newton. Meanwhile, Glen was still sitting in the passenger seat and Don Ward was standing outside. Glen was rolling Don's hand up in the window and putting lit cigarettes in it, as a joke. They were both very drunk (T421-22, 430-31,457). Ms. Sullivan congratulated Newton on his birthday. The shorter of the two men who had been standing by the white car (identified by Ms. Sullivan from a photopack and in court as appellant, Troy Merck) made a snide remark, something like congratufuck'n-lations (T421-22,436). Newton told him to mind his own business, he was talking to the lady. Appellant kept making comments trying to egg Newton on into a fight, calling him a "pussy". Newton was trying to ignore him, saying "Yeah, I'm a pussy. I'm not gonna fight" (T421-23).

Ms. Sullivan testified that she was sure that it was appellant who called Newton a pussy and who was trying to provoke him into a fight (T467). The taller man was bantering with appellant, but said nothing derogatory to Newton (T423-24,469).

According to Ms. Sullivan, appellant was standing by the front of his car (a red beat-up Pinto or Bobcat which was parked on the other side of where the white car -- now gone -- had been), and he asked his friend to throw him the keys (T423-24,429,432,450-51,463). He caught the keys, unlocked the passenger side door, took off his shirt, and threw it in the back seat (T427,430). [Ms. Sullivan testified that when the taller man threw the keys, he said "Here are the keys, Troy", and appellant said "Don't call me Troy. Don't call me by my name" (T429). While she did not mention this in her deposition, she stated on cross that she thought she had told the police that she heard a name; she wasn't sure if it was Troy or Tony (T470-72)].

Ms. Sullivan testified that appellant said to his friend "I think I'm gonna teach him how to bleed." He walked back around the car, kind of strutting, and handed the keys back to his friend. He came toward the front of her car, telling Jim Newton he was going to teach him how to bleed. The taller man said "I think he might be serious. I think you might want to take off." Appellant then rushed Newton and -- while facing him -- began hitting him in the back with roundhouse punches. There was a flurry of blows, four or five with each hand, followed by some uppercuts. Ms. Sullivan saw a glint of light from some sort of blade, and saw blood spots on Newton's back. He was starting to fall to the ground (T429,433-35). She couldn't move at first; then she ran inside the bar and told them to call 911 (T435-36).

The next morning a detective showed her two photopacks. She

identified appellant as the person who stabbed Jim Newton, and she identified Neil Thomas as his friend (T439-44, R1176-77). When Ms. Sullivan gave a description to Detective Nestor of the person who did the stabbing, she said he was wearing khaki-colored baggy dress pants (T472).

In court, she described the assailant as about 5'7" or 5'8" with short light brown hair. He had droopy or "buggy" eyes, and a slight accent or drawl (T420,448-49,473). The other man was about six feet tall, lanky build, and looked to her like a surfer; he was very tan, with light blond hair, short in the front and long in the back (T420,466). The shorter man, whom she identified as appellant, was wearing a light-colored oxford dress shirt with a button-down collar and long sleeves (which were rolled up) (T425,436-38). The taller man was carrying what appeared to be a mobile phone. He was wearing dark pants and a wrinkly black lace-up shirt, which was partly open in front and untucked (T437-38). Ms. Sullivan identified State Exhibit 15 as the shirt Neil Thomas was wearing, and said she was pretty sure State Exhibit 38 (a pink dress shirt) was the one appellant had on (T437-38).

Jim Carter was in charge of security at City Lights. As the bar was closing, Kathy (Sullivan) ran inside and said Jim had been stabbed (T487-88). Carter went outside, where he saw someone slumped on the hood of Ms. Sullivan's Camaro. A little red car was pulling out of a parking space two spaces away. Carter got the tag number, which was either OWW or DWW 6306. The tag was out-of-state, with dark letters on a white background (T490-92).

After going back inside to call 911, Carter came back out to the parking lot. Jim Newton had been placed on the ground; he was coughing up blood and groaning. When the police arrived, Carter gave them the license tag number (T492).

On cross, Carter acknowledged having told somebody at closing time that he had to chug his beer before leaving (T493). Carter had no specific recollection of appellant, and did not know if appellant was the person he said that to (T493).

Detective Jeffrey Crandall was informed that a vehicle matching the suspect's car had been located in a parking area about a mile or two from City Lights (T497-99). At 3:18 a.m. on the night of the incident, Crandall arrived and saw a red Bobcat which was properly parked. There was no tag on the outside of the car (T498). He took the VIN number. When he flashed his light into the window he saw a license tag which matched the BOLO. There were clothes and books on the passenger side of the interior. A knife in a sheath, with a brown handle, was leaning against the side panel in the passenger seat. There appeared to be blood on the metal part of the handle (T498-99).

Detective Rachel Hughes put together a photopack and showed it to Katherine Sullivan on the day following the homicide. Ms. Sullivan took 1 1/2 - 2 minutes looking at photographs; then said that number 4 (a photo of appellant) looked like the suspect, but she wished she could see him in person. She put the five other photographs aside. She was crying, as she had been all day. Detective Hughes asked her to clear her eyes, look again, and "tell

me if that's him." She then stated "Yes, that's him" and pointed to photograph number 4 (T501-07, R1176).

Crime scene technician Michael Pulham went to the parking lot of City Lights and photographed the area. There was blood on the left side of the blue Camaro and on the hood of the vehicle. He lifted some fingerprints from the car. A jeep which belonged to a witness was also parked in the lot. Pulham did not measure its distance from the Camaro, but he estimated in court that it was about 75 feet away (T509-12,517,520,522-26). Pulham also photographed the apartment complex parking lot where the Bobcat was found (T512-18). Later in the week, he went to the New Ranch Motel, room 211, where he collected some items and lifted some fingerprints (T519-20).

Crime scene technician William Havas obtained the clothing of the deceased. The shirt had holes roughly corresponding to the wounds on his back and chest (T529-31).

Crime scene technician Alyson Morganstein processed the Bobcat automobile for evidence, pursuant to a search warrant, on the afternoon of October 11, 1991 (T534-35,557). As Detective Nestor found and packaged the items of evidence, Morganstein photographed them (R535,545-49,557-58). A videotape was made of the search (T558). Morganstein testified that they were there collecting absolutely everything that was in the car, and that you are supposed to take everything into evidence (T558). She did not specifically know

¹ In the record, the photograph of appellant is in the top right of the four photos on the first page of State Exhibit 6 (R1176).

what Detective Nestor collected; "he collected what he thinks is important" (T558).

A knife in a leather sheath, with bloodstains on the handle, was behind the passenger side seat (T538-39). A license plate was on the floor in the back seat (T544). A pink shirt (St. Exh. 38) was in the back seat behind the driver's seat. A black shirt (St. Exh. 15) and a pair of dark pants (St. Exh 21) were also found in the back of the car, along with some other clothes (T539-42, see T484).

Blood was found in various locations, mostly on the passenger side of the car (T536-37,548,555,559). Morganstein collected blood samples, which were sent to the FBI for analysis (T536-38). Prints were lifted from several locations in the vehicle, including what appeared to be a palmprint on the roof (T543-44, 548-50). There was some bloodstained ridge detail (likely a fingerprint) on the exterior passenger-side door handle (T550-55).

Deputy Sheriff Richard Johnson collected items of evidence from Room 211, Howard Johnson's Motor Lodge in Clearwater. Among these items was a room key (also Room 211) from the New Ranch Motel. Deputy Johnson processed the room at Howard Johnson's for fingerprints. One of the prints collected was from the base of the telephone (T562-64).

F.B.I. Agent Jack Mertens, a forensic serologist, examined samples collected by Technician Morganstein from the red Bobcat automobile. The tests were positive for the presence of human blood; the quantity was insufficient to determine blood-type or DNA

(T575-76). The pink oxford shirt (State Exh. 38) tested negative for blood (T576). There was human blood on the knife (Exh. 22) but none was found on the sheath (T577).

There was human blood on State Exh. 21 (blue pants), and Mertens was able to conduct DNA profiling of the blood on the bottom right leg of these pants. The DNA profile matched that of the known blood sample of James Newton, the stabbing victim (T577-80, 484). Mertens testified that the chance that the blood on the blue pants could have come from someone other than James Newton would be about 1 in 174 million in caucasians (T579).

On cross, Mertens testified that the only articles of clothing he tested were the blue pants, belt, and pink shirt (T581). If another pair of pants had been sent to him, he would have tested it (T582). Mertens stated that he could not tell whether the blood on the pants came directly from James Newton or whether it was transferred from another source (T583).

Latent fingerprint examiner Henry Brommelsick obtained or was provided with the known fingerprints of appellant, Neil Thomas, and James Newton (T606-07). According to Brommelsick, the print from the telephone at Howard Johnson's belonged to Neil Thomas (T608-09). Both appellant's prints and Neil Thomas' prints were on the exterior rear passenger window of the Bobcat (T610-11,620). One of appellant's prints was on the interior passenger side window; and one of Thomas' prints was on the interior rear hatch glass window (T612). Both appellant and Thomas left a print on the roof of the vehicle, on the passenger side. The one directly above the door

handle was Neil Thomas', while appellant's print was further toward the rear (T612-13,620-23). Brommelsick testified on cross:

- Q. Someone went like, "Give me the keys," on the top portion of the car, right above the passenger side where the door handle would be, trying to get into the car, who would that have been according to your fingerprints?
 - A. It would be Neil Thomas.

(T622).

Brommelsick stated that about sixty of the latent lifts had no value, either because they were smudged or had insufficient ridge detail, or because they did not match anyone's known prints (T617-18). None of the prints which were submitted to him -- whether identifiable or unidentifiable -- were from the steering wheel or the stick shift (T619-20).

Associate medical examiner Robert Davis performed an autopsy on James Newton (T627). The cause of death was multiple stab wounds; the main fatal wound was to the neck (T628,638,640-41,647-49). There were four stab wounds to the left side of the back, one in the chest and abdominal area, one near the left ear, and some superficial cuts (characterized as defensive wounds) to the hands (T630,634-37). There were some abrasions, which could have been caused by a fist (T636-37). The stab wounds, according to Dr. Davis, were consistent with the knife obtained from the Bobcat automobile (T641-42).

The fatal neck wound went through a major artery and the jugular vein, and struck the vertebral column (T639,649). The angles of the wound indicated that the knife may have been twisted or the victim may have moved (T638-39). According to Dr. Davis, the neck wound would have caused unconsciousness quickly, within two to five minutes, and would have caused death within five to ten minutes (T640,649).

Dr. Davis testified that James Newton (who was 5'9" and 188 pounds) had a blood alcohol level of .18 and a vitreous alcohol level of .21 (T627,644-45,648-49). These, according to Dr. Davis, are "significantly elevated levels" (T645-46). He concluded "that this particular individual was drinking in excess of two hours prior to the time of his demise. He may well have been drinking for a greater number of hours" (T645-46). Dr. Davis testified that while Newton still would have been able to experience pain, his capacity to feel pain would have been diminished (T646).

Detective Kenneth Kanoski arrested appellant on the morning of October 14, 1991. When he asked him if he was Troy Merck, appellant said no and gave a different name. Kanoski did not recall the name he gave, but the first name was something like James (T655-56). Kanoski described appellant as about 5'7" with a slender build. He did not recall seeing any scratches, bruises, or cuts on him (T657).

On cross, Kanoski testified that on the morning after the stabbing a composite of the suspect was made and a BOLO was issued. The description of the suspect was gleaned from Katherine Sullivan and other witnesses (T659-61).

Deputy sheriff Thomas Nestor, the lead detective on this case, developed information that the possible driver of the Bobcat was

Neil Thomas. A photopack was shown to Katherine Sullivan, who picked out Thomas as the driver (T665-68, R1177). [On cross, Detective Nestor acknowledged that Ms. Sullivan did not see which of the two men got into the driver's seat. Neither she nor any other witness at the scene could say that Neil Thomas was driving the vehicle, or could describe the driver (T680-82)].

Detective Nestor searched the Bobcat pursuant to a warrant. The search was photographed and videotaped. Items were obtained from the vehicle by Nestor and logged by Detective Charles Vaughn (T670-71,683,688). The articles seized included the pink oxford shirt and the knife (T671).

Nestor subsequently participated in arresting appellant. When he asked him his name, appellant said he was Doug Mathis (T672-73).

On cross, Detective Nestor stated that he interviewed Katherine Sullivan on the morning after the stabbing. He knew that she was his primary eyewitness, and he took a detailed, verbatim statement from her. Ms. Sullivan never said anything about the second individual saying anything like "Nice catch, Troy", or calling the other person by name. She didn't even mention anything like "Throw me the keys" or "Nice catch." Nestor testified that it would have been very significant if Ms. Sullivan had mentioned a name (even if she was not exactly sure what the name was), and he would have included it in his report (T677-80).

Katherine Sullivan was the only witness who gave a physical description of the stabbing suspect, so the composite and the BOLO were based solely on her statements (T682). Nestor agreed that

after talking with Ms. Sullivan, the investigators locked in to appellant as being the stabber and Neil Thomas as being the driver, and the BOLO was put out to that effect (T682-83). When Thomas was picked up, he was handcuffed and placed in the front of Nestor's unmarked police car. After he gave his story, he was released to his relatives. Nestor testified that he did not believe there was probable cause to arrest him even as an accessory after the fact (T691-93).

During the search of the Bobcat, Detective Nestor examined everything that might have evidentiary value for either the prosecution or the defense. However, he testified that it is not necessary to actually take everything into custody; "[t]here are a lot of items in there that had no evidentiary value, that were not retrieved from the vehicle that are left in the vehicle." Such items would be released whenever the vehicle was picked up by the registered owner (T684-86). Nestor was the one who made the decision what was important or not; "If I didn't collect it, then it wasn't in evidence" (T686-88).

Don Ward was one of the group of friends at the City Lights nightclub. He had had at least six to eight beers when he left the bar shortly after closing time (T712-13). [At trial he said he had been "somewhat intoxicated", though he had told Detective Kanoski he was "highly intoxicated" (T712,718-19)]. In the parking lot, Ward was standing on the passenger side of Katherine Sullivan's car "horsing around" with Glen. He did not recall exactly what they

were doing. Jim Newton (whom Ward had just met that night) was standing on the driver's side of the car talking to Katherine, who was sitting in the driver's seat (T714-15,719). Ward was not paying attention that what was going on around him (T718). He heard some shuffling of feet and saw a man jump over the fender of the hood and run up to Jim Newton. He grabbed Jim and hit him six to eight times in the midsection. Jim fell over the hood, and blood was coming from his mouth (T715). Ward heard no words between them, except that the man said happy birthday as he approached Jim (T715,717). Ward told the police that the assailant was a white male about 5'8 (T716).

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