FILED

SID J. WHITE MAR 20 1995

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chilef Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TROY MERCK, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 83,063

By .

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Westwood Center Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

f.

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

II. The trial court correctly found the presence of statutory aggravating factor 5(b) which included unchallenged five prior convictions for armed robbery in Florida. Had the trial court allowed the introduction of the juvenile delinquency conviction in North Carolina into evidence, it would have been proper. Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1990).

The testimony of Chastain and Hess was unobjected to contemporaneously and thus any complaint should not be considered now. <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990), <u>Lindsey v.</u> <u>State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 1994), <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994).

Moreover, the testimony regarding the North Carolina shooting incident constituted a proper character analysis of the defendant, see <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So. 2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977), and Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So. 2d 1072, 1078 (Fla.

- 6 -

1983), was permissible to rebut age as a mitigator, see <u>Quince v</u>. <u>State</u>, 414 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 1982), and the trial court's reference to it in the sentencing order was the kind of surplusage approved in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 1983), to confirm the validity of finding factor (5)(b) in Merck's robbery convictions.

Any error in this regard must be deemed harmless since aggravator (5)(b) is present irrespective of the North Carolina incident and the prosecutor did not urge the latter in his penalty phase argument to the jury.

III. The lower court did not err in denying a mistrial request when the witness misspoke as to a question propounded by the defense. No abuse of discretion has been demonstrated.

IV. Appellant has failed to demonstrate, as required by <u>Arizona v. Youngblood</u> 488 US 51, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988), that Detective Nestor acted in bad faith in failing to retain a pair of khaki pants during a videotaped search of the vehicle occupied by Merck and Neil Thomas after the killing of Jim Newton. Nestor testified that he visually examined the items in the vehicle to determine if they had evidentiary value- he was looking for clothing with blood stains on them- and that if items did not appear to have any evidentiary value he did not retain them. Nestor did not act incautiously; he wore surgical gloves during the search to avoid contamination and the entire search was videotaped.

- 7 -

Merck's contention that Katherine Sullivan's erroneous report that the assailant wore khaki pants means that Neil Thomas was the perpetrator is meritless in light of her positive identification of Merck, rather than Thomas, as the knifewielder- the two men do not look at all similar- the testimony that Thomas could not fit into Merck's clothing and appellant's admissions to Thomas and his North Carolina friends, and threats to them should they inform on him. Moreover, trial counsel's tactical use of the missing clothes to support his theory at trial precludes the conclusion that he was denied due process in the preparation of his case.

V. The HAC instruction given in the instant case has been approved by this Court. Appellant's failure to submit a proposed alternate should preclude relief.

- 8 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE.

A. Whether age was a mitigating factor --

1

The trial judge determined in her sentencing order:

"STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

One statutory mitigating circumstance was presented to the jury. The Court has considered those other statutory mitigating factors contained in F.S. 921.141(6) and finds that no other statutory mitigating factors exist.

1. <u>F.S. 921.141(6)(g)</u>: The age of the defendant at the time of the crime.

The testimony received by the jury established that the defendant TROY MERCK, JR., was nineteen years old at the time of the homicide. It is clear, however, that the defendant, by virtue of his earlier offenses, has had sufficient contact with the justice system to be aware of the consequences of his actions and is not so youthful as [sic] be considered 'of tender years'. The Court finds that the defendant's age is not a mitigating factor in this case."

(R 2132 - 33)

This Court has frequently rejected youthful age as a mitigating factor See <u>Deaton v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1985) (defendant's age of eighteen years and ten months rejected as mitigation by the trial court and upheld by this Court); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1986) (eighteen years of age not per se mitigation); <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 1986) (age of twenty years not per se mitigating). As stated in Deaton, supra:

- 9 -

[4-6] Appellant next argues the trial judge erred in failing to find appellant's age as a mitigating circumstance. With respect to that factor, the trial court found the following:

1

This mitigating circumstance does not apply. The Defendant's date of birth is July 26, 1964 which makes him 18 years and 10 months at the time of the offense. Jason Thomas Deaton had been living on his own for several years. His background indicates he is not of tender age but was an adult at the time and capable of understanding his act.

"There is no per se rule which pinpoints a particular age as an automatic factor in mitigation." Peek v. State, 395 So. 2d 492, 498 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 451 US. 964, 101 S.Ct. 2036, 68 L.Ed.2d 342 (1981). We find the trial judge acted within the bounds of his discretion in rejecting appellant's age as a mitigating factor under the peculiar circumstances of this case. We conclude that, even had this mitigating factor been found, it would not have offset the three aggravating factors properly found by the trial court. See Bassett v. State, 449 So. 2d Appellant also argues the 803 (Fla. 1984). trial judge did not properly apply Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982), because he failed to find as a mitigating circumstance the cumulative appellant's effect of aqe, troubled childhood, and lack of significant history of criminal history of criminal activity. This evidence was known to the trial judge and it is clear he did not believe it to be of such significance that it warranted the finding of this mitigating circumstance.

(text at 1583)

Appellant is age nineteen and far from being an inexperienced naif caught up unexpectedly in the criminal justice system; Merck has used his "tender years" brutally to get what he

wants with little concern for the consequences. At age fourteen he shot Fawn Chastain in the face with the rifle (R 2131), and in 1989 committed five armed robberies of convenience store personnel, three in Lake County, one in Marion County and one in Pasco County (R 2130). He has displayed nothing to suggest that he should be given either protection or further opportunity for rehabilitation by the state.¹

Merck cites a number of inapposite cases to support his view that he should have benefitted from an age as mitigator finding. <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1994), <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 1994) and <u>Watts v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1992) involved trial court findings of the mitigator with no appellate issue challenging it; certainly nothing suggests such a finding was compelled or that it would have been error for the judge not to make a finding. <u>Canady v. State</u>, 427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983), <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1989) and <u>Huddleston v. State</u>, 475 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1985) all involved jury overrides in which the Court concluded that it could be reasonable for a jury to predicate its life recommendation on the defendant's age. The jury sub judice recommended death by a

In <u>Ellis v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1993) decided shortly prior to appellant's sentencing, this Court declared that the proper approach for a murder committed by a minor (Ellis was 17) is to find and weigh age as a mitigating factor "but the weight can be diminished by other evidence showing unusual maturity. It is the assignment of weight that falls within the trial court's discretion in such cases." Id. at 1001. <u>Merck, of course, is</u> not a minor and is unusually experienced in <u>criminal</u> <u>affairs</u>.

nine to three vote (Tr 1380). <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So 2d 1137 (Fla. 1986) involved a cross-appeal by the state challenging the correctness of the trial judge's finding of age as a mitigator. This Court concluded that the trial judge was in the best position to examine the defendant's emotional and maturity level and that factors observable to the judge (aside from mere age of 24) could support his finding. None of the cases address whether a trial judge abused his discretion in failing to make such a finding.

Appellant attempts to create a new statutory mitigating circumstance, one which might pithily be titled: age of nineteen plus immoderate use of alcohol. The problem with this attempt is that the immoderate use of alcohol is, if mitigating, a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance and one which was considered and addressed by the sentencing judge in her order:

"NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS

The Court has considered other aspects of the Defendant's background, character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense.

The defense presented Alcohol Use: 1. during the guilt testimony phase that indicated the defendant, TROY MERCK, JR., had a physical intolerance for alcohol and that on the night of the homicide had been drinking. State witnesses testified that in the bar and during the course of committing the homicide, the defendant, TROY MERCK, JR., did not appear to be impaired. While the evidence is in conflict over how much alcohol the defendant consumed and the effect which such consumption had on him, the Court is reasonably convinced that this mitigating factor has been established and has given it

- 12 -

some weight in consideration of the
defendant's sentence."

(R 2133 - 34)

Thus, even if the Court were to accept appellant's novel contention that the lower court erred in failing to find age as a mitigating factor because of his alcohol use, such error is de minimis since the court below "has given it some weight in consideration of the defendant's sentence." (R 2134) It would make no sense for this Court to remand to the trial court with instructions to add use of alcohol to the age mitigator and to subtract it from the nonstatutory mitigating list so that the calculus remains unaffected.

Appellant next invites the Court to review the P.S.I. (R 2249 A-I) which contains biographical data about Mr. Merck which Mr. Merck himself declined to share with the jury at the penalty phase (Tr 1333).

While appellant's physical stature and work experience and childhood ailments may be interesting they do not seem particularly relevant to the issue whether appellant's mere age mitigating factor. If appellant is attempting is а to demonstrate some mitigating factor other than age, such as mental emotional disturbance, suffice it to say that appellant or introduce testimony of someone like Dr. declined to Merin regarding psychological deficits (Tr 1331, 1347, 1355).²

² The defense contended during the colloquy on penalty phase instruction that the non-statutory use of alcohol was a mitigator along with whatever impairment resulted but that the statutory factor did not apply (Tr 1347, 1355).

If appellant is relying on the P.S.I. to demonstrate immaturity as part of the age-as-mitigating factor, the preparer of the P.S.I. report apparently was describing his 1986 visit to the North Carolina substance abuse services program, along with his recommendation that:

> "The circumstances surround this INSTANT OFFENSE are that of an extremely brutal and violent nature. While incarcerated the defendant has continued to demonstrate his violent personality by involving himself in numerous confrontations, and boasting about it."

(R 2249 H)

Merck is a serious threat to society, beyond rehabilitation and should be put to death.

Appellant now seeks to distance himself from his friends Rebecca and Roberta -- called as defense witnesses below, but now characterized by the defense on appeal as "none of whom seem to be of sterling character themselves" (Brief P. 46) -- who, Merck claims paint a picture of him as someone who wants to be a big But the record in this case demonstrates appellant to be man. vicious, scheming and manipulative. Merck made the decision to remove his shirt, retrieve the knife from the car and to attack Merck made the decision rather than beat up his James Newton. victim he would kill him because the victim seemed to be tempting him by standing there. (Tr 759) Merck decided to threaten his friends by killing the person closest to them if they talked. (Tr 7529, Tr 937, Tr 978) Another friend, Sandra Ledford, testified not only that appellant threatened to take the closest thing from

- 14 -

them if they told on him (Tr 1046), but also that Merck wanted her to falsely report that he woke up crying and remorseful in the motel room when in fact he had not (Tr 1049). That the killing was senseless is undisputed; that immaturity helps explain it is not. Merck's history of violence is not assuaged by attaching the label of immaturity.³ Society need not await Merck's further ripening.⁴

Finally, appellant argues that any error in this regard cannot be deemed harmless. Appellee disagrees. This Court has previously ruled that had the trial court made a finding of age as a mitigating factor the result would not be different. <u>Deaton v. State</u>, supra. See also <u>Wickham v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1991) (failure of trial court to find and weigh evidence of Wickham's abusive childhood, alcoholism, extensive history of hospitalization for mental disorders including schizophrenia was harmless error). Other harmless error cases include, as enumerated in Justice Wells' dissenting opinion in <u>Wike v. State</u>, _____ So. 2d ____, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 617, 619 (Fla. 1994) <u>Fennie</u>

³ The American Heritage Dictionary definition of immature includes "not fully grown or developed; unripe."

⁴ Appellant can obtain no comfort from <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1994) whre the trial judge erroneously refused to find age of 16 (a true minor) to be mitigating because the defendant's I.Q. range was within the normal. That case also involved a glue-sniffing, brain-damaged individual with no history of violence, all of which factors are absent in Merck.

v. State, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S 370 (Fla. July 7, 1994) (applying harmless error analysis where trial court provided an unconstitutionally vague jury instruction for the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor); Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994) (applying harmless error analysis where trial court permitted testimony regarding an unverified prior juvenile conviction during the penalty phase); Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993) (finding that errors in allowing evidence of lack of remorse during penalty phase and giving of erroneous instruction for the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator were harmless), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 1578, 128 L.Ed.2d 221 (1994); Duncan v. State, 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993) (finding that introduction of gruesome photograph during penalty phase was harmless error although the prejudicial effect of the photograph outweighed its probative value), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 453, 126 L.Ed.2d 385 (1993); Clark v. State, 613 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1992) (applying harmless error analysis where trial court might have erroneously considered the felony murder and pecuniary gain aggravators separately), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 114, 126 L.Ed.2d 79 (1993); Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990) (finding that improper questioning of medical examiner during penalty phase constituted harmless error), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 992, 111 S.Ct. 538, 112 L.Ed.2d 548 (1990); Chandler v. State, 534 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1988) (applying harmless error review to prosecutor's penalty phase comment on defendant's silence), cert. denied 490 U.S. 1075, 109 S.Ct. 2089, 104 L.Ed.2d

- 16 -

652 (1989); <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988) (finding error in weighing aggravating and mitigating factors harmless), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 185, 102 L.Ed.2d 154 (1988); <u>Delap v. Dugger</u>, 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987) (applying harmless error review where trial court filed to instruct jury that it could consider nonstatutory mitigating factors).

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